IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 12 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By DC
Chief Deputy Clerk

DUSTY RAY SPENCER,)
)
Appellant,)
)
vs.)
)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
Appellee.)
_____)

CASE NO. 85,119

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY
FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK
CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
Florida Bar No. 249238
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114

(904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the symbol "R" will designate the current record on appeal; the symbol "PR" will designate the prior record on appeal from the original appeal, Fla. Sup. Ct. Case No. 80,987; and the symbol "T" will designate the transcripts from the original appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged by amended information with four offenses: Count I - first degree murder of Karen Spencer (the defendant's wife) on January 18, 1992, by blunt force trauma and/or by stabbing with a knife; Count II - aggravated assault

on Timothy Johnson (the defendant's wife's son) on January 18, 1992, with a knife; Count III - attempted first degree murder of Karen Spencer on January 4, 1992, by application of blunt force with a deadly weapon, an iron; Count IV - aggravated battery on January 4, 1992, by causing great bodily harm or by using a deadly weapon, an iron. (PR 602-604) A jury trial commenced on November 2, 1992, before the Honorable Belvin Perry, Jr., Judge of the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Orange County. (PR 901-904) The jury found the defendant guilty of first degree murder, aggravated assault, attempted second degree murder, and aggravated battery. (PR 1081-1084)

The penalty phase of the trial was held on December 8, 1992. During the penalty phase, the state introduced, over the defendant's hearsay and relevancy objections, statements of the victim concerning a fight she had had with her husband, the defendant, on December 10, 1991, and of alleged threats he had made to her on that date and again on December 11, 1991. (PR 90-95, 124-125)

The court denied a requested defense instruction that the jury was permitted to consider mercy in its penalty recommendation. (PR 778-781, 1396-1397) The court also denied the defendant's motion to declare the death penalty unconstitutional because of the vague aggravating circumstances of heinous, atrocious, and cruel, and cold, calculated, and premeditated, and the jury instructions thereon. (PR 628-650, 657-676, 1331-1332) The jury recommended by a vote of seven to five that the defen-

dant be sentenced to death for the first degree murder. (PR 1148)

Following the denial of the defendant's motion for a new penalty phase, and additional argument, the court sentenced the defendant to death. In so doing, the court found the existence of three aggravating circumstances: (b) previous convictions of felonies involving the use or threat of violence, to-wit: the contemporaneous convictions of attempted second degree murder and aggravated battery stemming from the January 4th incident, and aggravated assault to the victim's son on January 18th; (h) heinous, atrocious, and cruel; and (i) cold, calculated, or premeditated, although the court did find that reasonable jurists could differ on the finding of this circumstance. (PR 1231-1236, 1243) The court rejected all of the statutory mitigating factors, including circumstance (b) that the defendant suffered from extreme mental or emotion disturbance, and mitigator (f) that the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired, despite recognizing that the expert testimony was undisputed regarding the existence of these mitigating factors. (PR 1237-1241) The court rejected these factors, finding that the defendant knew right from wrong. (PR 1239, 1241) The court did find the existence of a single nonstatutory mitigating factor, listing the defendant's alcohol and drug abuse, his paranoid personality disorder, the fact that the defendant was sexually abused as a child by his father, the defendant's honorable military service

record, his good employment record and reputation with his painting company, and the fact that the defendant could live in a structured prison environment, that does not contain women, without being dangerous. (PR 1242) The court found "this [singular] mitigating factor to be present, but [gave] it very little weight." (PR 1242) The court ruled that the aggravating factors it had found greatly outweighed the one nonstatutory mitigating factor, ruling that death was the appropriate sentence (even without the aggravator of CCP). (PR 1242-1243)

The court also sentenced the defendant on the remaining counts to five years on Count II (aggravated assault), fifteen years on Count III (attempted second degree murder), and fifteen years on Count IV (aggravated battery), all of the sentences to run consecutively for a total of thirty-five years. (PR 1243, 1252-1257) As his reason for the guidelines departure from a recommended sentence of twelve to seventeen years (or a permitted range of seven to twenty-two years), the court listed the unscored capital crime of first degree murder. (PR 1243, 1248-1249)

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the judgments but reversed the death sentence, striking the aggravating factor of CCP, and finding the existence, as a matter of law, of the statutory mitigating factors (b) that the defendant suffered from extreme mental or emotion disturbance, and mitigator (f) that the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377

(Fla. 1994). While Justice Kogan would have remanded for the imposition of a life sentence since the death sentence would not be proportional in this instance, the majority remanded the case to the trial court for it to reconsider its sentence in light of the stricken aggravator and the existence of the two additional statutory mitigating circumstances. Id.

On remand, neither side attempted to introduce any additional evidence. (R 3, 9, 19) Following the argument of counsel, the trial court again imposed the death sentence on the defendant. (R 56-70, 104-119) This time, the court found two aggravating circumstances: (b) previous convictions of felonies involving the use or threat of violence, to-wit: the contemporaneous convictions of attempted second degree murder and aggravated battery stemming from the January 4th incident, and the contemporaneous conviction of the aggravated assault to the victim's son on January 18th; and (h) heinous, atrocious, and cruel. (R 105-108) The court, citing only to this Court's previous opinion in this case, found that the defendant had established as mitigating factors the two statutory mental mitigators of (b) that the defendant suffered from extreme mental or emotion disturbance, and mitigator (f) that the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. (R 108) The court also found the existence of "any other factors in the defendant's background" as a single mitigator, listing the defendant's alcohol and drug abuse, the

defendant's paranoid personality disorder, and the sexual abuse that Dusty suffered as a child by his father. (R 108) The court found "this" (singular) mitigating factor to be present, but gave it "very little weight." (R 108)

The trial court's order also stated that it took "into consideration" the defendant's honorable military service record, the defendant's good employment record or reputation with his painting company, and that the defendant could function in a structured environment that does not contain women, without being a danger to himself or others, which factors were unrebutted. (R 108) The order does not reveal that the court found these factors to be mitigating. In fact, the court, in weighing the statutory mitigating factors, used the mitigation evidence of the defendant's successful business and his heroic act "of rescuing someone while station (sic) in the Philippine Islands" to aggravate the crime and/or diminish the statutory mitigation. (R 117)

For the weighing process, the trial judge indicated that, in order to be mitigation, these factors had to relate to the crime, stating:

In weighting (sic) the mitigating circumstances **the Court must examine what connection they had to the murder of Karen Spencer.** Both experts felted (sic) that due to the Defendant's long history of drug and alcohol abuse and his personality disorder he committed this crime while he was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance, and that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired.

(R 117) (emphasis added) Then, the court, although not finding the aggravator of cold, calculated, and premeditated (since this Court had struck that aggravating circumstance), utilized factors of that aggravator in its weighing decision, including that the defendant fantasized about killing his wife, his alleged motive to kill her, and his prior alleged threats (which were only shown by hearsay).¹ (R 117-118)

In conclusion, and despite expert testimony to the contrary², the court utilized the cold, calculatedness and premeditation and the fact that he was sane (knew right from wrong) to diminish the weight given to the statutory mental mitigators:

The facts leading up to the killing and the nature of the killing are indicative of a deliberate thought process by the Defendant to kill Karen Spencer, if

¹ On direct appeal, the defendant raised the impropriety of hearsay statements to be introduced at the penalty phase of the trial where the defendant had no means to rebut this hearsay. This Court, in its opinion, found that this hearsay evidence was admissible since the defendant could cross-examine the police officer whom the victim had told of these alleged threats (even though the defendant had no means to test the veracity of the victim's statements themselves to the officer). This Court also concluded that, because it struck the CCP aggravator, this alleged error was harmless. Because of this hearsay's persistent use by the trial court in its sentencing decision, the appellant continues to maintain that it was improperly admitted and utilized since he could have no meaningful opportunity to rebut and to discredit the veracity of the **content** of this complaint to the police and, especially in light of the fact that Karen Spencer invited Dusty back into the marital home for the Christmas holidays after the alleged threats, there is no indication of any reliability and no way to tell whether Karen Spencer was lying to the police concerning these statements.

² See Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377, 384 (Fla. 1994), wherein this Court specifically held that the mental mitigating evidence negated, as a matter of law, the cold, calculated, and premeditated factor.

she did not comply with his wishes. The acts of the Defendant clearly show that he knew what he was doing and he knew it was wrong. After carefully reviewing the record, and taking all of the mitigating circumstances in the light most favorable to the Defendant, this Court finds that they had a very small, **if any**³ connection to the murder of Karen Spencer.

Thus, while this Court gives the mitigating of (sic) circumstances of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and impaired capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law, some weight, it is clear that by any reasonable assessment and evaluation of the evidence⁴ that I can not give them overwhelmingly great weight.

(R 118) (footnotes and emphasis added). The trial court concluded that, in arriving at its death decision, it had "carefully weighed and considered each **statutory** aggravating and mitigating circumstance. . . ." (R 119) (emphasis supplied).

A notice of appeal from the capital resentencing was timely filed. (R 156) This appeal follows.

³ The trial judge, apparently, disagrees with this Court's opinion to the contrary, Spencer v. State, supra at 384-385, as well as the experts' analyses and conclusions upon which this Court relied in its decision to reverse.

⁴ See footnote 3, supra.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Dusty Ray Spencer and Karen Johnson fell in love and were married. (T 452) For Dusty, it was his second marriage; his first ending in divorce and bankruptcy for Dusty. (PR 231) Karen Spencer became a partner in Dusty's painting business, handling most of the financial aspects of the business. (T 902-903, 920) Working together, the business thrived and the couple purchased a boat which they named "Dusty's Dream" and which they kept moored in Daytona Beach. (T 553) They would often go to Daytona on weekends and go out boating together. (T 553)

Then, in early December 1991, Karen went to Daytona by herself for the weekend. When she returned, she told Dusty their marriage was over and kicked him out of the house. (T 453, 552) The state introduced evidence in the penalty phase of the trial, over the defendant's objections on hearsay and relevancy grounds and because of the remoteness of time, that on December 10, 1991, the defendant confronted Karen over \$3300 which she had withdrawn from the business account. (PR 125, 183) The couple got in a fight over the money, which culminated in Dusty choking Karen and making her promise to replace the money or he would kill her. (PR 125-127) After Karen reported the incident to the police, Dusty was arrested and jailed. (PR 127) On December 11, 1991, Karen Spencer telephoned the police and reported that she had received a phone call from her husband in jail, who reportedly told her that when he got out of jail, he would finish what he started. (PR 128, 132, 133-134)

When the holiday season approached, Karen asked Dusty to return home. (T 453, 552) [It appears that Karen's parents were to visit over Christmas, and she did not want them to know that she and Dusty were separated. (PR 552)] Dusty, thinking his marital problems were over, moved back home, purchased Christmas presents for his wife and her teenage son, Tim, and had Christmas dinner with his in-laws. (T 453, 552-553) Then, after Christmas was over and Karen's parents left town, Karen again kicked Dusty out of the house. (T 453, 552-553)

Dusty again was heart-broken and feared that Karen would do what his first wife had done, take his business away from him and ruin him financially. (PR 179, 231) While drinking with his friends on New Year's Day, Dusty reportedly said that he should take his wife out on their boat and throw her overboard. (T 913-915, 925-926) The friends who heard this statement, including a friend of Karen's, did not take this statement seriously at all and, hence, did not report it to Karen or to the police. (T 915, 926)

According to psychologists, Dusty became extremely paranoid and stressed out over his failed relationship. (PR 163-164, 167-169, 177, 179, 189-191, 245-247, 344, 377) He returned home on January 4, 1992, and got into a fight with Karen in her bedroom. (T 462) He struck Karen several times with his hands as they struggled. (T 462) Tim was awakened by the noise and went into his mother's room, where he saw the defendant on top of his mother, hitting her with his hands. (T 462-463) When he told

Dusty to stop, Dusty picked up a clothes iron from Karen's shelf and struck Tim in the head with it. (T 463, 539, 560) Tim retreated to his own bedroom where he was followed by Dusty, who struck him several more times with the iron. (T 464-465, 539) Dusty dropped the iron and returned to his wife's bedroom, but she had already fled the house to a neighbor's. (T 466, 540-541)

At the neighbor's house, Karen requested help, saying that Dusty had beaten her up and was beating Tim with an iron; she did not indicate that Dusty had ever hit her with the iron. (T 569-571, 586, 599) The neighbor called the police and went to the Spencer house, only to see Dusty leaving and that Tim was left alone. (T 467-468, 572-575, 587)

Tim and Karen were taken to the hospital where they were treated for their injuries. (T 469, 641-642) The treating physician testified, over a hearsay objection, that Karen had told him that she had been beaten with the iron. (T 648) (This is the only testimony about Karen being hit with an iron.)

Dusty left town after the incident, to return only on January 17th or 18th. (PR 364-365, 368) A neighbor testified that he observed the defendant on the morning of January 17th, parked down the street from the Spencer house, watching his house. (T 775-777) The neighbor indicated that the defendant appeared to have an angry look on his face, "like something had went wrong." (T 777; PR 217-218) The defendant stayed there for a short while, then drove off. (T 778-781)

On the morning of January 18, 1992, shortly before the

painters were scheduled to arrive at the Spencer house to get their paints and assignments for the day, Dusty Spencer went to his house to procure the title to his automobile. (T 456, 903, 917-918, 921-922; PR 207-208) Even though he had lived in the house for almost three years, Dusty wore disposable painter's gloves in case his wife was not home and he had to break into the house to obtain his car title. (T 501-502; PR 212, 369)

Dusty's wife was home, though, and the kitchen area showed signs of a struggle. (T 665-666; PR 208) Tim, hearing the commotion, awoke, grabbed Dusty's rifle from his mother's bedroom, and found his mother and Dusty in the back yard. (T 472, 478-479, 542) He testified that he saw the defendant striking Karen Spencer with a brick (although the medical examiner testified that there were no signs of any injuries caused by a brick) and observed a lot of blood on Karen's face. (T 479-481, 483, 750) Tim tried to shoot the defendant. (T 497, 542) When the rifle misfired, Tim turned it around and struck the defendant three times in the head with the rifle butt with such force as to cause the stock to shatter. (T 481, 497, 542-543)

When the defendant regained his composure from being struck, Tim then observed the defendant push Karen's head into the concrete wall of the house. (T 481-482, 543-544) Tim testified that the defendant then pulled up his mother's nightgown and told Karen to show your child "your pussy." (T 481) Tim then ran to his mother's side, who was unconscious, and attempted to carry her off. (T 492, 547) Tim testified that Dusty pulled a knife

from his pocket and pointed it at Tim. (T 484, 492) Tim never saw Dusty stab his mother with the knife. (T 548) Tim then ran to neighbors' houses to summon aid and attempt to find another gun. (T 498-500, 502-504, 589-590, 595-596)

When the police arrived they found Karen Spencer dead, having been stabbed three times, cut on the face and arms (defensive wounds, in the medical examiner's opinion), and having blunt trauma to the back of her head. (T 659-662, 678-681, 726-739) The medical examiner testified that the stab wounds to the chest and the blunt force trauma to the back of the head both would have caused death. (T 742-743) He opined that the victim would have lost consciousness very quickly after the trauma to the head. (T 749, 754) He also testified that he could not be sure of the sequence of the injuries, but that if, as Tim had testified, there was a lot of blood on the victim's face when Tim first saw her, the knife injuries to the face must already have occurred since there were no other injuries to the face and head that would have caused the bleeding on her face as Tim had recounted. (T 726-730, 749-750; PR 104-105)

During the penalty phase of the trial, the psychologists revealed what Dusty had told them he remembered about the event. Dusty went to his former home to find the car title and he and his wife got into an argument and a struggle ensued. (PR 207-208, 369-370) The struggle continued out into the back yard, where Karen grabbed a landscaping brick and started hitting Dusty. (PR 208, 370-371) Dusty wrestled the brick from Karen,

when Tim appeared on the scene and struck him repeatedly with the rifle stock. (PR 371) After being struck, the defendant did not recall any further events until seeing Karen laying on the ground, apparently dead. (PR 208-209, 356, 371) The psychologists believed that Dusty's amnesia concerning the event was genuine. (PR 378-381)

The psychologists also opined that the defendant suffered from alcohol and drug abuse which definitely contributed to the crime and the method of the crime, was normally a very controlled and emotionally isolated person, who, after experiencing great stress, such as the breakup of his marriage, could lose control of his bottled up emotions and go into a violent rage. (PR 163-164, 167-169, 173, 175, 177, 192, 197, 213-215, 246-247, 340-344, 346-355, 360, 372) The psychologists offered the unrefuted opinion that Dusty Spencer was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the murder, and was unable, because of the severe stress and alcohol abuse, to "appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions, which occurred in a disassociative state," and was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. (PR 177-179, 204-205, 355-356)

Regarding the prior incidents of threats of harm on December 10-11, 1991, and January 1, 1992, a psychologist stated that this was indicative of his uncontrolled state, wherein Dusty did not understand the impact of his threats; they were not meant to be taken seriously, but were mere fantasizing and just expres-

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