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

were not even implicated in the murder except in the midst of carrying it out.

The mitigator of impaired capacity to conform one's conduct to the requirements of the law can also hardly be considered to be of a highly ameliorating degree when Spencer was able to run a successful business, and had supposedly similar suspicions about his first wife in regard to taking his assets, yet that wife did not meet the same fate as Karen Spencer under similar circumstances of emotional arousal. The experts also indicated that the inability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law began when he was directly threatened which caused him to go into a state in which he wasn't aware of what he was doing (R 209). This inability, likewise, then only manifested itself in the midst of a crime he had previously manifested a clear intent to commit.

Aside from the absence of a causal connection between Spencer's mental state and the killing, the testimony of the psychologist also demonstrates the weakness of this evidence as mitigation. Ms. Burch clearly stated that "Overall, he was really less impaired than many people with his long history of drug and alcohol abuse and I did not find evidence of neuropsychological impairments that would seem to significantly affect his behavior." (R 160).

The willingness of the experts to opine without basis that Spencer's mental constellation fit within the definitions of the statutory mitigating factors lead not only to an erroneous finding of such factors but had a domino or chicken/egg effect as the existence of statutory mitigation having no relevance to the murder was inappropriately found to negate the existence of the CCP factor. Tangential anger in the actual commission of a contemplated murder was found to negate the coldness factor. For all the same reasons that Judge Perry gave the statutory mental health mitigators little weight, they should not have been found in the first place and the CCP and mental health mitigation issues should be reopened based on reasons previously discussed (Appellant seeks to reopen issue of intent; Appellant implicitly agrees with Judge Grimes' dissent in regard to mitigation by claiming Spencer's normal traits and accomplishments should have been given more weight). In Walls v. State, 641 So.2d 381, 390 (Fla. 1994), this court stated:

> As a general rule, uncontroverted factual evidence cannot simply be rejected unless it is contrary to law, improbable, untrustworthy, unreasonable, or contradictory. This rule applies equally to the penalty phase of a capital trial. Opinion testimony, on the other hand, is not subject to the same rule. Certain

kinds of opinion testimony clearly admissible--and especially are qualified expert opinion testimony -but they are not necessarily binding even if uncontroverted. Opinion testimony gains its greatest force to the degree it is supported by the facts at hand, and its weight diminishes to the degree such support is lacking. A debatable link between fact and opinion relevant to a mitigating factor usually means, at most, that a question exists for judge and jury to resolve.

In Walls, a similar case in which reasonable persons could conclude that the facts of the murder were inconsistent with the presence of the two mental mitigators, and where the experts were equivocal, this court would not revisit the judge and jury's determination on appeal, especially where the offered mitigation was nonstatutorily credited and weighed. The only possible reason for doing so in this case, and an argument again urged by Appellant, is the domestic dispute exception, a thread of which runs through the opinion of this court. Appellant urges that Florida remain one of those states in which the killing of another's spouse as in *Bertolotti* warrants the ultimate sanction but the killing of one's own spouse does not. Such theory is logically flawed. Every social deviant or criminal comes from a family or has a family. He will have close associations in his lifetime. Those associates are as

blameless as the population in general. Under this theory such person is severely punished only when he does ill to an unknown member of the general public. But even given this propensity for harm in general he is permitted to form close associations in which the likelihood of doing harm is even greater by virtue of increased social interaction. When the inevitable harm does come in the course of human interaction his punishment is lesser. This is so only because marriage is viewed as a difficult institution under a "two to tango" approach. The reality is such a person could harm The stark reality is that women are afforded less anyone. protection under the law in terms of deterrence when they associate with men. The domestic dispute theory does not hold water in this case, in any event. This court has carved out an exception to the domestic dispute exception in cases where a defendant has killed a woman with whom he has had a relationship after a previous conviction for a similar violent offense. Cf. Henry v. State, 649 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1994) (previous conviction of second-degree murder for the stabbing death of his first wife, and conviction of firstdegree murder for the stabbing death of his second wife); Lemon v. State, 456 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1984); King v. State, 436 So.2d 50 (Fla. 1983) and Harvard v. State, 414 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1982). Such an exception seems to be premised on a recognition that repetition

demonstrates the problem is not the situation but the person. That is certainly the case here. Spencer is not entitled to another free bite, so to speak. While the murder of Karen Spencer occurred on January 18, 1992, it was preceded by the attempted second-degree murder of Karen Spencer and the aggravated battery upon Timothy Johnson on January 4, 1992. Spencer is not entitled to add the name of a new victim to his list, where it is obvious his is a continuing course of conduct. This court also previously determined on direct appeal that this was not a "heat of passion" killing. *Spencer v. State*, 645 So.2d 377, 381 (Fla. 1994).

Appellant next contends that in the section of the resentencing order dealing with mitigation the trial judge merely listed the statutory mitigators, citing to this court's opinion, without any analysis.

Another way of looking at it, and the more logical way, is that the judge adopted this court's analysis of the mitigating factors as he was required to do by virtue of such reference to this court's opinion.

Appellant next endeavours to show the many ways in which the trial court went wrong, which he speculates caused the court to give little weight to mitigation. Appellant specifically alleges that the trial court did not understand the mental health experts'

testimony and misconstrued and minimized it; utilized the M'Naughten standard, premeditation, and Dr. Burch's acknowledgement that Spencer did not drink the morning of the murder to give the factor little weight. Appellant concludes that he has established that these statutory mental mitigating factors are significant, are what caused the crimes to occur, were the reasons for the violent rage and are entitled to great weight and a reduced sentence of life imprisonment.

The sentencing judge did not misunderstand, misconstrue or minimize the experts' testimony he simply put it in its proper perspective as he was entitled to do under *Walls*. If such allegation of misconstruction is based on the fact that the judge had conflicting or ambiguous statements to select from then his discounting the ultimate opinion of the experts was also proper under *Walls*.

Judge Perry also found nonstatutory mitigation and, again, Appellant merely quarrels with the weight accorded such factors which is entirely in the judge's discretion. Any omission from consideration was harmless error.

## D. <u>WEIGHING/PROPORTIONALITY</u>

In Santos v. State, 629 So.2d 838 (Fla. 1994), this court found that death was not proportionally warranted because the case

for mitigation was far weightier than any conceivable case for aggravation. In Santos aggravation consisted only of the finding of another violent felony during the transaction in which the murders occurred. There were four mitigators: extreme emotional disturbance; substantial inability to conform his conduct to the requirement of the law; and no history of criminal activity. In Santos a history of domestic problems preceded the murders. The relationship was sometimes stormy. Santos was deeply disturbed by the fact that the woman he had lived with for many years would not give his name to his daughter. He was also extremely emotional concerning the restriction of access to his child. In the present case there was no history of domestic problems as even Dr. Lipman In the case at bar there was no lashing out because of noted. emotional wounding but simply a desire to do away with someone about to relieve Spencer of money and anger at finding himself in those circumstances. The aggravation is this case is much weightier and the mitigation of marginal relevance and weight.

In Wilson v. State, 493 So.2d 1019 (Fla. 1986), the defendant became enraged when his stepmother told him to keep out of the refrigerator and began striking her with a hammer. His father came to her aid and Wilson also beat him with a hammer. During his struggle with the father Wilson stabbed his young cousin in the

chest with a pair of scissors. The father directed the stepmother to get a pistol. Wilson grabbed it and shot the father in the forehead and emptied the pistol into a closet where the stepmother was hiding. This court found that the murder of the father was the result of a heated domestic confrontation and while there were two aggravating circumstances and no mitigating factors the death penalty was not proportionately warranted. The contrast in the factual scenario in *Wilson* and the case at bar speaks only to why a death sentence <u>is</u> proportionately warranted in this case. In this case there is a total absence of a sudden rage or emotional frenzy except in the carrying out of a murder already contemplated over a period of time. There was no monetary theme in *Wilson*, only a coming upon of the defendant of an emotional paroxysm.

In Ross v. State, 474 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1985), the evidence reflected that the defendant had been drinking, not just had a drinking problem, and the killing was the result of an angry domestic dispute. The defendant had stated that he had argued with his wife and hit her once with a hammer. Again there was a heat of passion, rather than a monetary theme.

In Farinas v. State, 569 So.2d 425 (Fla. 1990), the defendant was obsessed, not with the victim taking money, but with having the victim return to live with him. The defendant was also intensely

jealous. This court found that there was evidence which tended to establish that the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. The court also found that the murder was the result of a heated, domestic confrontation. It was not, as in this case, mere anger in the carrying out of an often expressed intent to murder the victim and involved no covert actions such as wearing gloves or parking the car out of sight.

In Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990), this court found that death was not a disproportionate punishment in comparison to similar cases as the case involved substantially more than passionate obsession and was the culmination of avowed threats to terminate the lives of parents standing between the defendant and his former girlfriend. This case, as well, involved more than passionate obsession. It involved a concern with money and avowed threats to kill unless the same was provided. Spencer's deceased wife stood between him and his money. Spencer's act was not of momentary but monetary passion.

In the present case, the sentencing court found the aggravating circumstance of previous convictions of felonies involving the use or threat of violence, to-wit: the convictions of attempted second degree murder and aggravated battery stemming from the January 4 incident and the conviction of the aggravated assault

to the victim's son on January 18. This court has found a death sentence to be proportionately warranted in circumstances where a defendant has killed a woman with whom he had a relationship where he has had a previous conviction for a similar violent offense. Cf. Harvard v. State, 414 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1982); King v. State, 436 So.2d 50 (Fla. 1983); Lemon v. State, 456 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1984); Porter v. State, 564 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1990); Duncan v. State, 619 So.2d 279 (Fla. 1993). Spencer has a previous aggravated assault on Timothy Johnson. That the victim in the January 4 incident was the same murdered victim should make no difference. Having been in jail for the incident and having the ability to distinguish between right and wrong and the sure knowledge of the consequences of any future action Spencer was in no lesser position than defendants whose prior convictions were for violent crimes to other victims.

In Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1988), Jerry Correll had slashed his ex-wife's tires some two years prior to her murder. On the night of her murder Correll saw Susan and the man she was then dating inside the ABC Lounge. The tires of her escort were slashed. Susan stayed at her mother's home that evening. Correll went there and stabbed Susan to death, as well as her sister, mother, and his own five year old daughter. Also Correll could not

be ruled out as the person whose sperm was found in Susan's vagina. Correll claimed to have been drinking and smoking marijuana on the night of the murders. This court affirmed all of the convictions, including the conviction for the murder of Correll's ex-wife. The present case is not distinguishable in any visible way except that Timothy Johnson, who Spencer had previously attacked, did not hang around long enough to provide Spencer with a second victim. Spencer is every bit as culpable as Correll, in terms of sentencing, for the murder of his wife.

Spencer's mitigation, as properly reviewed and put into perspective, is also abysmally weak, and weighed against two strong aggravators, it is readily apparent that death is the appropriate sentence.

## II. THE CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY ADMITTED HEARSAY TESTIMONY DURING THE PENALTY PHASE WAS RAISED AND DECIDED ADVERSELY TO APPELLANT ON DIRECT APPEAL, WAS NOT AN ISSUE ON REMAND AND CANNOT BE ENTERTAINED AGAIN.

On direct appeal Appellant raised as his fifth claim the argument that the trial court improperly admitted hearsay testimony during the penalty phase. Over defense objections, a police officer testified about Karen's statements regarding Spencer's December 10, 1991, attack on her and his subsequent threat from jail to finish what he had started. Spencer claimed, as he does

now, that the introduction of this hearsay testimony denied his constitutional rights to confront witnesses and due process of law.

Initially, we note that this testimony was not the only evidence cited in the sentencing order for the CCP factor. The order noted that Spencer 'on numerous occasions prior to the date of the homicide had openly expressed his desires to kill the victim.' In addition to the December 10 and 11 events related in the testimony at issue, the order also noted Spencer's actions and statements during the January 4, attack Karen 1992, on and his statement that he would like to take her out in the boat and throw her overboard. Moreover, based upon out disposition of the CCP issue below, any alleged error on this point would be harmless. However, we find no error in admitting the officer's testimony. Although the testimony involved hearsay, it was admissible under Florida's death penalty statute. During the penalty phase proceedings for capital felonies, '[a]ny such evidence which the court deems to have probative value may be received, regardless of its admissibility under the exclusionary rules of evidence, provided the defendant is accorded а fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements.' This hearsay testimony was probative of both the CCP and HAC aggravating factors as it showed Spencer's intention to kill Karen as well as his intention to punish her.

Spencer was also given the opportunity to cross-examine the officer.

Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377, 383 (Fla. 1994).

For all the same reasons that Appellant cannot reopen the issue of the propriety of finding HAC, discussed in Point I (B)1, Appellant also cannot reopen this issue.

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